THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. John C. Hayes, III
Presiding Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2012-213730

Juontonio Pinckney, Josephine Sciacca, Addie Smith, James Barone, Deborah Barone,
Ismael Gonzalez, Valerie Gonzalez, Joe Moore, and Sandra Moore,
Appellants

Epcon Communities, Inc., Epcon Communities Franchising, Inc., Brock L. Fankhauser,
Fankhauser Property Group, Inc., and Stonecrest Villas of Tega Cay Home Owners
Association, Inc.,
Respondents

And Fankhauser Property Group, Inc. is also Appellant.

Fankhauser Property Group, Inc., Third Party Plaintiff,

v.

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ABUSE IT DISCRETION ON JANUARY 23, 2013 IN DISMISSING PLAINTIFFS' DAMAGE CLAIMS BY ERRONEOUSLY FINDING THAT QUEENS GRANT VILLAS HORIZONTAL PROPERTY REGIMES I-V, V. DANIEL INTERNATIONAL CORP., 286 S.C. 555, 335 S.E.2d 365 (Sup. Ct. 1985) ESTABLISHED THE REGIME AS THE REAL PARTY IN INTEREST AS TO ALL BUILDING EXTERIOR COMMON ELEMENT DAMAGE CLAIMS?
- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY RULING AS LAW THAT QUEENS GRANT VILLAS HORIZONTAL PROPERTY REGIMES I-V, V. DANIEL INTERNATIONAL CORP., 286 S.C. 555, 335 S.E.2d 365 (Sup. Ct. 1985) ELIMINATED OWNERS' ABILITY TO PURSUE INJURY AND PROPERTY DAMAGE TO THEIR HOMES WHERE OWNERS FILED SUIT FIRST IN PRIORITY AFTER STATUTORY DEMAND TO CURE?
- III. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERROR BY FAILING TO RECOGNIZE CASUALTY, BUILDER AMALGMATION, AND BY ERRONEOUSLY VIEWING THE BUSINESS JUDGMENTS OF A DEVELOPER CONTROLLED BOARD MOST FAVORABLY TO THE MOVANT GRANTING SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON APRIL 5, 2013?
- IV. WERE THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DETERMINATIONS OF APRIL 5, 2013 CONTROLLED BY ERROR OF LAW IN ADOPTING INCORRECT DEFINITIONS OF ACCIDENT IN VIEW OF AFFIRMATIVE OBLIGATIONS OF THE MASTER DEED?
- V. DID THE CIRCUIT COURT ERROR BY DISMISSING PLAINTIFFS' CLAIMS IMPLICATING INDIVIDUAL REAL AND PERSONAL PROPERTY BY MISCONSTRUING "COMMON ELEMENTS" UNDER MASTER DEED UNDER A JOINTLY-HELD ANALYSIS?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants are twelve (12) homeowners in Stonecrest Villas of Tega Cay, a York County multi-family condominium development. This appeal involves stipulated facts and novel issues of first impression arising from alleged construction defect or design defect claims. Initially, four (4) Plaintiffs brought suit as against Brock L. Fankhauser individually ("BF"), the general contractor Fankhauser Property Group, Inc., (FPG), and the property regime Stonecrest Villas of Tega Cay Owners' Association, Inc., ("COA"). The initial suits are filed

on June 2, 2010 ninety days after service of statutory notice and demand to cure upon *both* the COA and the developer.¹ [R.v.2,pp.338-340; *see also* R.v.5,p.1104 at (1)-(15)]. September 16, 2011 amended consolidated complaint is plaintiff's current active pleading, naming six defendants.

The homes sold to Plaintiffs were constructed and sold during years 2006 to 2010 by Epcor franchisee Stonecrest Villas of Tega Cay, LLC (hereafter "Stonecrest LLC"—developer), also *declarant* under the community master deed. Brock L. Fankhauser ("BF") individually is the owner of Stonecrest, LLC and Fankhauser Property Group, Inc. (hereafter "FPG", general contractor). Fankhauser is the owner and was controlling interest of the COA until the effective date of his resignation, described below. Discovery in the case evidences that the Declarant Control period described in the Master Deed had expired in year 2008. Fankhauser does not resign or transition board control to owners until July 1, 2010. It is not disputed that transition did not occur until *after* Plaintiffs' initial complaints are filed and served. The parties have stipulated to the following facts :

1. The COA entity is responsible for administering and maintaining the community's common elements pursuant to the Master Deed.
2. That Brock L. Fankhauser resigned and transitioned the board on July 1, 2010.
3. That the common elements were not in good repair as of the date of developer's resignation and transition on July 1, 2010.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Prior to the trial court determinations now on appeal, the trial court issued two (2) rulings following oral arguments, including the August 27, 2012 order referencing the "Catch 22" *Doc Daneeka* order of Pulliam v. MUI Carolina Corporation, et al., case no. 2008-CP-46-2158. The court ordered that the Pulliam order was to be incorporated by reference

insofar as the context permits (sic). [R.v.2, pp.345;346-358]. The dichotomy discussed in said order was the issue of who may bring suit for damages regarding the common elements within a condominium development and who had the right to recover for such damage. The following orders precede the orders now under appellate review.

1. August 27, 2013 order denying COA motion for judgment on the pleadings predicated on standing vs. plaintiffs.

Counsel for COA argued that plaintiffs lacked standing because the COA was singularly responsible for maintaining and administering the common areas pursuant to the master deed and was the only party who could do so. The court denied the COA's motion on August 27, 2013. In conjunction with a motion to approve settlement heard 12/19/2013, the "one recovery" element of the Pulliam circuit ruling is argued by the COA as support for requested dismissal of all claims under Queen's Grant, *supra*, including Plaintiffs' damage claims. The record evidences that the court failed to differentiate between the parties' respective damage claims and viewed them as one set of damage. [R.v.4,p.1096 at 11-15; R.v.5, p.1106, at 1108 at lines 9-18].

2. October 27, 2013 order denying Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment predicated on standing vs. COA.

Plaintiffs argued their motion for summary judgment, alleging priority equitable standing vs. the association because the COA owned no common elements; it was not first in priority of time to file suit; and the COA lacked standing because Plaintiffs held both legal estate title and were first in time to file notice, claims and suits. Plaintiffs' motion for summary judgment was denied on October 27, 2013. Until January 23, 2013 the court's rulings established that neither party held neither superior nor inferior standing vis-à-vis the

other as to common element damage claims, thus culminating in the standing imbroglio described by the court. “*I’m not happy about it, but that’s the way I see it.*” [R.v.4, p.1085 at 8-9]. Oral arguments next occur on December 19, 2013 culminating in the 1/23/2013 order. The order reversed the court’s prior rulings dated August 27, 2012 and October 27, 2012. Summary judgment is granted on January 23, 2013. The court’s ruling is predicated upon *Queen’s Grant Villas Horizontal Property Regimes I-V, v. Daniel International Corp.*, 286 S.C. 555, 335 S.E.2d 365 (Sup. Ct. 1985) in dismissing all parties damage claims, including Plaintiffs.

3. January 23, 2013 order approving COA settlement and dismissing all damage claims by granting summary judgment.

By order dated January 23, 2013 the circuit court approved a \$2.62 million mediated *conditional* settlement procured by the COA from the developer, general contractor, and various third- and fourth-party subcontractor litigants. As a condition of settlement, the court granted the COA’s request to *extinguish* and dismiss *all* parties’ claims to common elements implicating exterior building envelopes, save only those issues carved out by footnote (2) of the court’s order. [R.v.2,p.372 at fn#2.] The carved out issues involved alleged subsurface, gravel, slab, and soil compaction defects beneath some Plaintiffs’ homes. The court viewed the parties respective claims as “jointly held”⁵ and one set of damages. [R.v.2,p.374 at 12, fn#3].

4. April 5, 2013 order granting summary judgment predicated upon the business judgment rule.

On April 5, 2013 the circuit court granted summary judgment as to all fifteen of Plaintiffs’ causes of action against the association, including breach of fiduciary duty. The court’s judgment was predicated on the business judgment rule, S.C. Code Ann. § 33-8-300 as

described in Dockside Ass'n, Inc. v. Detyens, 291 S.C. 214, 217, 352 S.E. 2d 714, 716 (Ct. App. 1987) aff'd, 294 S.C. 86, 362 S.E.2d 874 (1987). Plaintiffs opposed summary judgment by citing § 33-8-300(c) under the facts and documentary evidence, and argued amalgamation between developer Fankhauser and the COA precluded grant of summary judgment. Plaintiffs further argued documented awareness of defects and design issues by the COA and developer precluded summary judgment. [R.v.4,pp.1033-1051]. From the 1/23/2013 and 4/5/2013 orders appellants Pinckney, et al now appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In a case raising novel questions of law, the appellate court is free to decide the question with no particular deference to the lower court. *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 411, 526 S.E.2d 716, 719 (2000) (citing S.C. Const. Article V, §§ 5 and 9, S.C. Code Ann. § 14-3-320 and 330 (1976 & Supp. 2005)). A case with legal and equitable issues presents a divided scope of review. *Perry v. Heirs at Law & Distributees of Gadsden*, 313 S.C. 296, 437 S.E.2d 174 (Ct. App. 1993). When legal and equitable causes of action are maintained in one suit, each retains its own identity as legal or equitable. *Future Group II v. Nationsbank*, 324 S.C. 89, 478 S.E.2d 45 (1996). A legal question in an equity case receives review as in law. *Gunter v. Fallaw*, 78 S.C. 457, 59 S.E.2d 70 (1907). This court has previously ruled that it reviews all questions of law de novo. E.g., *Fields v. J. Haynes Waters Builders, Inc.*, 376 S.C. 545, 564, 658 S.E. 2d 80, 90 (2008). The instant appeal involves stipulated facts.¹ When an appeal involves stipulated or undisputed facts, and appellate court is free to review whether the trial court properly applied the law to those facts. *WDW Properties v. City of Sumter*, 342 S.C. 6, 535 S.E.2d 631 (2000). In such cases, the appellate court is not required to defer to the trial court's legal conclusions. *J.K. Constr., Inc. v.*

Western Carolina Regional Sewer Auth., 336 S.C. 162, 519 S.E. 2d 561 (2001); *Duke Power Co. v. Laurens Elec. Co-op., Inc.*, 344 S.C. 101, 543 S.E.2d 560 (Ct. App. 2001). To determine whether an action is legal or equitable, this court must look to the action's main purpose as reflected by the nature of the pleadings, evidence, and character of relief sought. *Ex Parte Wheeler v. Estate of Green*, 381 S.C. 548, 673 S.E.2d 836, 839 (Ct. App. 2009). As cited by the circuit court, the Plaintiffs' current active pleading, seeks both *equitable and legal relief*. [R.v.2,p.417 fn#2]. Appellants respectfully assert that because the case *sub judice* raises novel issues and stipulations of fact¹ this court is presented with an equitable review. The court of appeals is free to determine whether the trial court properly applied the law to the facts, has jurisdiction to find stipulated facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence, and jurisdiction to review questions of law presented *de novo*.

ARGUMENT

Appellants respectfully assert the trial court's 1/23/2013 and 4/5/2013 rulings are controlled by errors of law under current South Carolina case authority and in misapplying legal definition of "*accident*" under the court's master deed interpretations of the master deed under facts of the case. Appellants allege error in the trial court's 1/23/2013 ruling by the court failing to view all factual evidence and inferences of ownership, demands to cure, and priority of claims in a light most favorable to Plaintiffs. Appellants respectfully assert the court erroneously ruled that the regime, pursuant to Queen's Grant, *supra* was the real party in interest as to *all* common element damage claims. Appellants respectfully assert trial court error on April 5, 2013 in failing to recognize developer amalgamation, error in statutory

application, and error in interpreting and applying master deed affirmative obligations relevant to a regime that was developer-controlled through the date of July 1, 2010. ¹

Appellants allege that errors occur in misinterpretation of affirmative obligation, rights, and duties of the parties under the master deed. Abuse of discretion occurs in court analysis of statutory law related to notice, demands to cure, and mis-application of the business judgment rule analyzed under restrictive covenants and the authority of Queen's Grant, *supra*. Finally, appellants respectfully assert that the court's definition of "*accident*" as applied to the facts and the COA obligations under section 13.1 of the master deed erroneously resulted in a finding of no casualty where competent evidence demonstrated builder and regime awareness of escalating and progressive injury impacting numerous homes. ²

Appellants do not, as part of this appeal, seek to vacate the settlement fund to the COA for costs to repair procured from subcontractors. Appellants do not challenge the COA's ability or business judgment in entering into a financial settlement for common areas at large, nor the release of third- and fourth-party litigants⁴ whom Plaintiffs did not file suit against. Appellants respectfully assert that the circuit court abused its discretion in dismissing Plaintiffs' damage claims vis-à-vis the developers FPG and Stonecrest, LLC by granting the COA province and power to settle *all* common element exterior envelope claims, and dismissing Plaintiffs' damage claims on 1/23/2013 where a developer/builder controlled regime had abrogated affirmative master deed obligations in the face of casualty.

Appellants respectfully seek reversal of the portion of the 1/23/2013 trial court order dismissing Plaintiffs' exterior claims as against the developer FPG and Stonecrest, LLC as part of the settlement, and restoring of Plaintiffs' damage claims against these entities.

Distinguished from earlier court analysis under Pulliam v. MUI, appellants assert that the parties' claims for relief were inapposite, separate, distinct, and implicate disputed ownership as to unit common elements, particularly those comprising the building envelope of Plaintiffs' homes. At issue in this case has been the concept of equitable standing, and the novel concepts of which party may claim damage and/or injury to property in a multi-family development where both the Plaintiffs and regime brought claims in the same case.

In reviewing concepts related to equitable priority, standing, and "*first in time*" principals, the circuit court construed Plaintiffs' claims as "*we got to the courthouse first*" (sic) and "*This argument presupposes that one must litigate to settle a claim.*(sic)" [R.v.2,p.400 ¶4, at 2]. The court failed to consider, in a light most favorable to Plaintiffs, that initial suits occur *only after* the developer and the developer-controlled COA board failed to respond to statutory demands to cure. The case at bar involves *progressive* injury affecting Plaintiffs' homes and related common elements under a master deed.² Appellants allege that the court erroneously misconstrues the respective parties' damage claims as "*jointly-held*"⁵ and identical, and thus seeking *identical* relief in dismissing Plaintiffs' damage cases and ignoring fiduciary obligations of the COA under restrictive covenants.

In-depth trial court analysis addressed the relief sought in all Plaintiffs' causes of action. The court cites that relief sought by the twelve owners would be *personal* (sic) *to the Plaintiffs*. [R.v.2,p.402, ¶2; Id., p.405 fn#7]. The court misinterpreted the differences in relief being sought by the respective parties, and misconstrued duties and affirmative obligations of the court. While analyzing equitable standing issues and rights to pursue damage, the circuit court notes: "*A fair reading of Plaintiffs' Complaint establishes that in no instance . . . do Plaintiffs seek any general relief which would inure to the benefit of SCVTC generally or be*

available to the COA or other individual homeowners to remediate the alleged defects to the common areas.” [R.v.2, ¶4 at 1]. The court misconstrued that these obligations would fall not to the Plaintiffs, but to the regime, irrespective of board control. In erroneously viewing facts most favorably to the movant, the court’s orders go on to note: “*The Plaintiffs do not seek recovery of funds to affect repairs to the common elements*” and “*not recovery on behalf of the owners of all the Stonecrest Villas condominiums*”. [R.v.2, p.415 at ¶(5); see also Id.,p.403 at¶(1).] The court nevertheless dismisses all Plaintiffs’ claims on 1/23/2013 as part of the COA sought extinguishment and dismissal. [Id.,p.406 at ¶(3)].

Further illustration included the following inquiries by the trial judge to Plaintiffs: “How can your twelve *do anything to assist to have anything done to their own units let alone contract to have something done by a contractor for the entire development ?*” [R.v.5,p.1318 at 14-21.] The “Master Deed of Stonecrest Villas of Tega Cay Horizontal Property Regime,” was recorded on February 12, 2007 in Book 08852 at Page 149 of the York County Registry (hereinafter “Master Deed”). [R.v.2,p.403¶(1)]. It is expressly cited by the trial court’s order of January 23, 2013. The business judgment rule is cited 4/5/2013 by reference as applicable within the January 23, 2013 order, compounding the errors. [R.v.2,p.415 ¶(2) at 1]. At no place is the business judgment rule cited in the court’s analysis of 1/23/2013. The trial court rulings ignore that on June 2, 2010 four (4) suits were filed with York County naming as primary defendants Brock L. Fankhauser, (“BF”) Fankhauser Property Group (“FPG”) and Stonecrest Villas of Tega Cay Owners’ Association, Inc.(“COA”).³ Procedurally, the COA answered and filed its counterclaims and cross claims on August 6, 2010 after Fankhauser’s resignation. This occurred thirty six (36) days after builder transistion. It occurs approximately 184 days after Plaintiff Pinckney’s (and others) statutory notice and demands

to cure served upon both developer and the COA pursuant to S. C. Code Ann. §40-59-820, *et seq.* As amended and consolidated, the Plaintiffs' September 16, 2011 suit named twelve (12) Plaintiff owners, all of whom purchased homes from years 2007 to 2010 that later experience water penetration and damage.

The April 5, 2013 the trial court order granted summary judgment to the COA dismissing all Plaintiffs' causes of action as against the regime. The circuit court cited the business judgment rule as implicated in both the 1/23/2013 and 4/5/2013 orders, but did not expressly link express dismissal of Plaintiffs' claims, explaining that the first order on appeal dealt *strictly* with Stonecrest COA's *settlement of pending litigation (sic)*. [R.v.2,p.415¶2, 1-5.] Appellants respectfully assert that the trial court abused its discretion and erred as a matter of law in dismissing Plaintiffs' damage claims. On 1/23/2013 the court misconstrues them as identical to the COA's under Queen's Grant and Pulliam. In granting summary judgment in the January 23, 2013 order, the court does so erroneously viewing all facts and inferences related to common element damage viewed most favorably to the moving party. The court's ruling ignores the inapposite property damage claims and claims for relief sought by Plaintiffs, and failed to consider legal estate ownership of units under a "*jointly-held*" analysis.⁵

Appellants allege error in the circuit court's January 23, 2013 dismissal of Plaintiffs' damage claims involving their homes' building envelopes as part of COA request for *extinguishment*. The court cited it's ruling to be predicated on the inherent power to manage litigation and approve settlements, and not express reliance upon Rule 56 or Rule 41(a)(2). [R.v.2,p.398 at 1-2]. Appellants respectfully assert the Plaintiffs' and COA common element damage claims were erroneously viewed as singularly one and the same, or identical.

[R.v.4,p.1096 at 13-16]. The settlement memorandum of record evidences, however, that the COA-procured settlement is for *cost of repair* of the common elements. [R.v.2,p.379 at 7; See also, R.v.3,p.801¶(4)]. Using the standard of Rule 56, the court goes on grant the motion approving settlement, while simultaneously dismissing *all* claims by *all* parties for damages to common elements. The court's order specifically extinguished claims related to *exterior building envelopes*, despite the COA entity holding no ownership to these unit common elements. Unit exterior envelope common elements are owned by the individual Plaintiff owners, irrespective of the common areas at large. [R.v.2,p.456; Id., p.462 at §1.6]; *see also*, [R.v.2,p.466 at 5.1].

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