THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM YORK COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

---

Consolidated Appellate Case No. 2012-213730  
Civil Action No. 2010-CP-46-02326

---

Juontonio Pinckney, Trustee of the Pinckney Living Trust; Josephine Sciacca; Addie Smith; James and Deborah Barone; Ismael and Valerie Gonzales; and Joe and Sandra Moore.....Appellants,

v.

Epcon Communities, Inc.; Epcon Communities Franchising, Inc.; Brock L. Fankhauser; Fankhauser Property Group, Inc.; Stonecrest Villas of Tega Cay, LLC; and Stonecrest Villas of Tega Cay Home Owners Association, Inc. .... Respondents.

---

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

---

<sup>4</sup> The Defendant in Roland erroneously argued that the condominium association was the “owner” of the common elements and there was no evidence presented regarding the Master Deed or obligations to repair.

determination of which *judgment creditors* had superiority to make a claim under a bond.

In the course of its analysis, the court recognized that the key issue was the superiority of the lien, which would establish the order of payment. The court stated:

Corpus Juris lays down the rule as follows: “Priority in Time: As to both legal and equitable liens, it is a well established rule, in the absence of statutory regulations to the contrary that a lien which is prior in time gives a prior claim and is entitled to satisfaction out of the subject matter it binds, before other subsequent liens binding the same property. Thus as a general rule in equity, if the liens are equal in all other respects the one prior in time will prevail.” See 37 C. J., § 40, 328.

186 S.E. at 527. Judgment lien and creditor law is not applicable in this case and the Circuit Court properly recognized that the Appellants’ argument is basically “we got to the courthouse first,” which presupposes that one must litigate to settle a claim. (Supp. R. v. 2 p. 375).

In the same vein, the Appellants make much of the fact that they made a “statutory demand” on Stonecrest COA to file suit. However, such a “statutory demand” only has meaning if the Appellants seek to bring suit *derivatively in the name of the corporation*, i.e. Stonecrest COA. At no time have the Appellants brought or attempted to bring a derivative action in the name of Stonecrest COA. Therefore, their purported “statutory demand” is not relevant in this context. See Carolina First Corp. v. Whittle, 343 S.C. 176, 187, 539 S.E.2d 402, 408 (Ct. App. 2000). In Whittle, this Court explained that the demand requirement of Rule 23 balances a shareholder’s right to assert a derivative claim against a board’s decision of whether to invest the resources of the corporation in the pursuit of the corporate wrong. Id. (“Whether a corporation should bring a lawsuit is a business decision, and the directors are, under the laws of every state, responsible for the conduct of the corporation’s business, including the decision to litigate.”) (quoting RCM Sec. Fund, Inc. v. Stanton, 928 F.2d 1318, 1326 (2d Cir 1991)).

See also Houle v. Low, 556 N.E.2d 51, 57 (Mass. 1990) (“Our cases have long recognized that the question whether a corporation should pursue a given lawsuit involves factors other than the merits of the claim. It is often a question of business policy.”).<sup>5</sup>

## ARGUMENTS AS TO APRIL 5, 2013 ORDER

### **I. THE CIRCUIT COURT CORRECTLY HELD THAT STONECREST COA’S CONDUCT WAS REASONABLE AND IS PROTECTED BY THE BUSINESS JUDGMENT RULE.**

Though the Amended Complaint spans 36 single-spaced pages and asserts twelve causes of action against Stonecrest COA, the Appellants’ theory of liability boils down to this: Stonecrest COA has violated its obligations under the Master Deed and its bylaws to maintain and repair the community’s common elements. These allegations are primarily based upon the following sections of the Master Deed:

- The Statement of Purpose, which states, in part: “Declarant has deemed it desirable to create a nonprofit, incorporated owners’ association which will be delegated and assigned powers of maintaining and administering the Common Areas and facilities on the Property[.]”(Supp. R. v. 2 p. 461).
- Section 5.4(a), which states, in part: “The Association shall be responsible for the maintenance and repair of all Common Elements, including the Limited Common Elements[.]”(Supp. R. v. 2 p. 467).
- Section 13.1, which states, in part: “In the event of damage to or destruction of any Building as a result of fire or other casualty, the Association shall arrange for the prompt restoration and replacement of the damaged or destroyed Building[.]”(Supp. R. v. 2 p. 481).

---

<sup>5</sup> The Appellants also assert the Circuit Court’s holding “ignores equitable principals that aid the vigilant and erroneously permits parties that slumber on their rights priority.” This statement, albeit incorrect, is irrelevant to the legal analysis.

In the April 5 Order, the Circuit Court found that Stonecrest COA has not violated these provisions (or other potentially relevant provisions of the Master Deed and bylaws), finding instead that “it is clear from the record that Stonecrest COA acted as quickly and efficiently as possible to pursue and obtain a monetary recovery from the parties it believed were actually responsible for the state of the common elements in order to finance the necessary repairs.” (Supp. R. v. 2 p. 418). This finding was based on Stonecrest COA’s decision to raise the funds needed to repair the community’s common elements not by imposing a large special assessment on all community owners, but by pursuing and, ultimately, recovering a multi-million dollar, settlement from the community’s general contractor and developer pursuant to the holding of Concerned Dunes that “developers are held responsible for the condition of the common areas at the time these areas are deeded to the POA.” 349 S.C. at 259-60, 562 S.E.2d at 638. (Supp. R. v. 2 pp. 418-419). Accordingly, the Circuit Court held that Stonecrest COA’s conduct was “an unquestionably reasonable exercise of corporate discretion” and that it is “protected by the business judgment rule and entitled to judicial deference.” (Supp. R. v. 2 p. 422).

The Circuit Court did not err by so holding. It is a well-recognized and long-established principle that courts “will not review the business judgment of a corporate governing board when it acts within its authority and it acts without corrupt motives and in good faith.” Kuznik v. Bees Ferry Assocs., 342 S.C. 579, 599, 538 S.E.2d 15, 25 (Ct. App. 2000) (citations and quotations omitted). See also Dockside Ass’n, Inc. v. Detyens, 294 S.C. 86, 87, 362 S.E.2d 874, 874 (1987) (“[T]he business judgment rule precludes judicial review of actions taken by a corporate governing board absent a showing of a

lack of good faith, fraud, self-dealing or unconscionable conduct.”). “[T]he burden of proving good faith is not on the governing board; *the burden of proving a lack of good faith is borne, rather, by those challenging the board’s actions.*” Detyens, 294 S.C. at 87, 362 S.E.2d at 874 (emphasis added). However, the Appellants failed to produce any evidence of bad faith on the part of Stonecrest COA.<sup>6</sup> Accordingly, the Circuit Court was correct to hold that Stonecrest COA’s decision to abstain from imposing a huge special assessment on the community owners in favor of pursuing and recovering a multi-million dollar settlement is protected by the business judgment rule and entitled to judicial deference. See, e.g., Goddard v. Fairways Dev. Gen. P’ship, 310 S.C. 408, 414, 426 S.E.2d 828, 832 (Ct. App. 1993) (holding that that a decision by the directors of a

---

<sup>6</sup> In fact, the evidence is to the contrary. The following deposition testimony regarding Stonecrest COA’s board members is illustrative.

Q. Do you know Mr. Moscowitz?

A. I know who he is, yes.

Q. Would you know him if you saw him walk in?

A. Absolutely.

Q. And what about Dave Cook?

A. I know Dave Cook.

Q. And Ms. [Paulette] Iadanza?

A. I do.

Q. Do you have any -- well, let me ask you, is this a volunteer position that they have, or are they paid?

A. I would not think they would be paid.

Q. Do you fault any of those three individuals for anything they have done as board members for the HOA?

A. I don’t know anything that they’ve done. I think they’re in the middle of a maelstrom, can’t escape from it.

(Supp. R. v. 5 p. 1220, l. 10 – p. 1221, l. 3).

homeowners' association not to raise assessments for the purpose of repairing common elements was protected by the business judgment rule). See also Master Deed § 11.3 (“Failure of the Executive Board to exercise its authority under this section [to impose discretionary assessments] shall not be grounds for any action against the Association or the Executive Board[.]”) (Supp. R. v. 2 p. 479).

In their brief, the Appellants make two arguments against the Circuit Court’s application of the business judgment rule. First, the Appellants argue the Circuit Court failed to properly consider the alleged “amalgamation” of Stonecrest COA and the Fankhauser Defendants prior to the transition of Stonecrest COA to community control on July 1, 2010, citing S.C. Code Ann. § 33-8-300(c). In essence, they seek to transform Stonecrest COA into another Fankhauser Defendant based on the alleged pre-transition conduct of one of its former officers, Brock Fankhauser. However, Section 33-8-300(c) does not support a recovery against Stonecrest COA. It concerns the good faith obligations of individual directors of for-profit corporations. Assuming the Appellants intended to reference a similar provision in the Nonprofit Corporation Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-842(c), that section likewise concerns the good faith obligations of individual officers, not the corporate entity. See, e.g., S.C. Code Ann. § 33-31-842(e) (establishing a statute of limitations for actions against “an officer”). Moreover, the Appellants have not brought a cause of action for the alleged violation of either section. And in any event, Mr. Fankhauser and his corporate entities are already Defendants in this action. The Appellants have not established—and cannot establish—any legal basis for their attempt to reach into the pockets of their fellow community owners (who

collectively make up Stonecrest COA) based on the alleged pre-transition conduct of parties against whom they already have pending claims.

The Appellants' second argument against the application of the business judgment rule is that the Circuit Court employed the incorrect definition of the word "accident" in defining the term "casualty" as it is used in Section 13.1 of the Master Deed. The Appellants have long made the misguided argument that Section 13.1, which requires Stonecrest COA to restore and replace buildings damaged or destroyed by "fire or other casualty," to repair construction defects in the common elements. However, it clearly does nothing of the sort. The Appellants can cite no authority indicating that the term "casualty," which is typically used in the insurance context, encompasses construction defects. As the Supreme Court of the United States has opined, "[a]n accident or casualty, according to common understanding, . . . may be properly said to occur *by chance* and unexpectedly." Chicago, St. L. & N.O.R. Co. v. Pullman S. Car Co., 139 U.S. 79, 86 (1891) (emphasis added). Construction defects do not happen by chance. Moreover, rules of construction dictate that the general term "casualty" in the phrase "fire or other casualty" should be interpreted in light of the specific term "fire." Cf. Sheppard v. City of Orangeburg, 314 S.C. 240, 243, 442 S.E.2d 601, 603 (1994) ("When the Legislature uses words of particular and specific meaning followed by general words, the general words are construed to embrace only persons or things of the same general kind or class as those enumerated."). Accordingly, the term "casualty," as it is used in Section 13.1 of the Master Deed, must be construed to refer to hailstorms, high winds, lightning strikes, earthquakes, etc., and not to construction defects.

Even if Section 13.1 did impose an obligation on Stonecrest COA to repair construction defects in the common elements—it does not—the fact remains, as previously discussed, that there were only two ways for Stonecrest COA to finance the necessary repairs: impose a large special assessment on the community owners or pursue a recovery from the Fankhauser Defendants. Choosing the latter was, as the Circuit Court correctly ruled, “an unquestionably reasonable exercise of corporate discretion” and should not be second-guessed by the courts.

Accordingly, the Circuit Court correctly applied the business judgment rule and the April 5 Order should be affirmed.

## **II. ADDITIONAL GROUNDS EXIST FOR SUSTAINING THE APRIL 5 ORDER.**

Even though the business judgment rule requires the affirmance of the April 5 Order, there are several other reasons why it should be affirmed. See Rule 208(b)(2), SCACR (“Respondent’s brief may also contain argument asking the court to affirm for any ground appearing on the record as provided by Rule 220(c).”); Rule 220(c), SCACR (“The appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, decision or judgment upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.”); I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 419, 526 S.E.2d 716, 723 (2000) (holding that “a respondent—the ‘winner’ in the lower court—may raise on appeal any additional reasons the appellate court should affirm the lower court’s ruling”).

- A. The Circuit Court’s ruling that the Appellants have not properly pled and cannot establish the elements of their causes of action as against Stonecrest COA is the law of the case.

In the April 5 Order, the Circuit Court found that Stonecrest COA is entitled to summary judgment on two separate and independent grounds. In Section I of the April 5

Order, the Circuit Court found that Stonecrest COA is entitled to summary judgment based on the business judgment rule. (Supp. R. v. 2 pp. 417-422). The Appellants have challenged that ruling on appeal. However, the Appellants have not challenged Section II of the April 5 Order, in which the Circuit Court found that Stonecrest COA is entitled to summary judgment due the Appellants' failure to properly plead and establish their causes of action as against Stonecrest COA. (Supp. R. v. 2 pp. 422-439). None of the Appellants' "Questions Presented" address that aspect of the April 5 Order and there is no argument in their brief against that aspect of the April 5 Order. Accordingly, Section II of the April 5 Order is the law of the case. Rule 208(b)(1)(B), SCACR ("Ordinarily, no point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of the issues on appeal."); Burris v. Propst Lumber & Logging, Inc., 396 S.C. 85, 96, 719 S.E.2d 695, 701 (Ct. App. 2011) ("[T]his specific point is not listed in the Statement of Issues on Appeal. Therefore, the court need not address it."); Allen v. Pinnacle Healthcare Sys., LLC, 394 S.C. 268, 277, 715 S.E.2d 362, 367 (Ct. App. 2011) ("[T]his issue was not included in Appellant's sole statement of the issue on appeal. Therefore, we need not address this argument on the merits."); Austin v. Specialty Transp. Servs., Inc., 358 S.C. 298, 320, 594 S.E.2d 867, 878 (Ct. App. 2004) ("A portion of a judgment that is not appealed presents no issue for determination by the reviewing court and constitutes, rightly or wrongly, the law of the case."); State v. Dunbar, 356 S.C. 138, 142, 587 S.E.2d 691, 694 (2003) ("No point will be considered which is not set forth in the statement of issues on appeal."); Rumpf v. Massachusetts Mut. Life Ins. Co., 357 S.C. 386, 398, 593 S.E.2d 183, 189 (Ct. App. 2004) ("Any unappealed portion of the trial court's judgment is the law of the case, and must therefore be affirmed."); Matter of Morrison, 321 S.C. 370,

372, 468 S.E.2d 651, 652 n.2 (1996) (“This ruling is the law of the case since it is not contested on appeal.”); Nat’l Grange Mut. Ins. Co. v. Firemen’s Ins. Co. of Newark, N.J., 310 S.C. 116, 121, 425 S.E.2d 754, 758 n.5 (Ct. App. 1992) (“The unappealed portion of a lower court’s judgment presents no issue for review by this court and becomes the law of the case.”). Because Section II of the April 5 Order is the law of the case, and because it found Stonecrest COA is entitled to summary judgment even absent application of the business judgment rule, summary judgment for Stonecrest COA must be affirmed regardless of how the Court rules on Section I of the April 5 Order.

B. The Appellants have not properly pled and cannot establish the elements of their causes of action as against Stonecrest COA.

The Appellants’ failure to properly plead and/or establish their causes of action is a further additional sustaining ground. As shown below, each and every cause of action asserted in the Amended Complaint is legally deficient and/or clearly unsupported by record evidence.<sup>7</sup>

(i) *Breach of Fiduciary Duty (third cause of action).*

“To establish a claim for breach of fiduciary duty, the plaintiff must prove (1) the existence of a fiduciary duty, (2) a breach of that duty owed to the plaintiff by the defendant, and (3) damages proximately resulting from the wrongful conduct of the defendant.” RFT Mgmt. Co. v. Tinsley & Adams L.L.P., 399 S.C. 322, 335-36, 732 S.E.2d 166, 173 (2012). The Appellants have not properly pled and cannot establish these elements as against Stonecrest COA.

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